IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO. 60,642

v.

WILLIAM T. FUSSELL,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF



Scott K. Tozian and Donald A. Smith, Jr. Counsel for the Respondent Landmark Bank Building 412 East Madison Street Suite 909 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 273-0063

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Count One in the case <u>sub judice</u> was originated by letter of complaint from Ronald Harper to The Florida Bar, and Counts Two and Three by similar correspondence from John Newman, both letters being received on or about June, 1979. [R.II. 235,199]. Following various exchanges of correspondence and grievance committee hearings, The Florida Bar filed its four-count complaint on May 19, 1981. Thereafter, on July 14, 1981, The Florida Bar sent Respondent a Request for Admissions, to which the Respondent replied with a Motion for Extension of Time on August 6, 1981. On September 1, 1981, Respondent filed a Motion to Recuse and the following day filed his Response to Request for Admissions.

On September 18, 1981, the Referee, Judge Allen C. Anderson, denied Respondent's Motion for Extension of Time to Respond to Request for Admissions, denied Respondent's Motion to Recuse, and granted The Florida Bar's Motion for Order Deeming Matters Admitted.

Thereafter, Respondent filed his Motion to Continue on October 29, 1981, to allow this court to consider his Petition for Writ of Prohibition and Petition for Writ of Certiorari which were based upon the Referee's refusal to recuse himself. Pursuant to Respondent's Motion for Continuance, the final hearing in this cause was rescheduled for March 29, 1982. However, immediately preceding this hearing, The Florida Bar filed a Motion for Continuance based upon counsel of record leaving the employ of

The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar's Motion for Continuance was granted.

Thereafter, this cause was set for trial on November 24, 1982, and due to serious illness of Respondent's counsel, on November 22, 1982, Respondent requested a continuance of the referenced hearing, attaching affidavits from four attorneys who stated that insufficient time existed in which to prepare.

Respondent's Motion for Continuance was denied, and the trial was heard on November 24, 1982, and December 8, 1982.

Thereafter, on December 5, 1983, one year after final hearing, a sentencing hearing was held, and on December 21, 1983, the Referee filed his report finding Respondent guilty of Counts I, II, and III and not guilty of Count IV, and recommended Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for two years.

On May 2, 1983, over four months after filing of the Referee's report, Bar Counsel, Steve Rushing, informed Respondent of the Board of Governors' decision to approve the Referee's Report.

On May 10, 1984, Respondent filed his Petition for Review with this court; however, Respondent could not file his brief in support thereof due to The Florida Bar's failure to provide a complete record of the proceedings. Accordingly, on June 8, 1984, Respondent filed his Motion for Extension of Time to file his

brief in order to receive a complete record with which to work.

This court granted Respondent's Motion for Extension of Time

and allowed Respondent fifteen days to serve his brief after

completion of the record.

On October 17, 1984, counsel for The Florida Bar provided Respondent with the final transcript to complete the record.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Symbols and abbreviations used in this brief are as follows:

R.I. = Page of transcript, November 24, 1982, hearing

R.II. = Page of transcript, December 8, 1982, hearing

COUNT I

Respondent was retained by Ronald J. Harper on or about February 27, 1979, to handle post-conviction matters relating to Mr. Harper's 1978 conviction of First Degree Murder for which he was serving fifty years. [R.I. 233]. After a lengthy initial conference, Respondent determined that an insanity defense was viable for Mr. Harper. Respondent then undertook the task by consulting and employing three psychiatrists and one psychologist to examine Mr. Harper and provide other necessary assistance. [R.II. 8,11]. Between September, 1979, and July, 1980, Respondent had eleven meetings or conferences with the various doctors, the last of which occurred on July 9, 1980. [R.II. 11,12]. Additionally, Respondent hired Mr. Ray M. Green, a detective retired from the Tampa Police Department, to conduct an investigation designed to locate witnesses knowledgeable of Mr. Harper's mental condition. [R.II. 12,13].

On August 16, 1980, one month after the final conference with the doctors, Mr. Harper dismissed Respondent and hired substitute counsel to pursue his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. [R.I. 246]. Respondent never received notice of his dismissal and therefore,

on September 3, 1980, filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on behalf of Mr. Harper. [R.II. 27]. Thereafter, substitute counsel, with assistance from Respondent and utilizing Respondent's work product, refiled the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief which was denied on May 13, 1981, approximately eight months after new counsel was retained. [R.II. 35,36].

COUNTS II AND III

Respondent was retained by Johnny C. Newman to represent Mr. Newman on various criminal charges including Possession of Marijuana, Conspiracy to Deliver Marijuana, Delivery of Marijuana, Felon in Possession of a Firearm, and Attempted Third Degree Murder. [R.I. 189]. Subsequent to entering a plea of guilty to the charges and receiving various sentences totalling ten years, Mr. Newman and Respondent discussed a possible Motion for Reduction of Sentence. [R.I. 193,195, R.II. 73]. During this discussion, with Mr. Newman's wife present, Mr. Newman informed Respondent that he had been cooperating with law enforcement officials and had received their assurances that such assistance could foster Mr. Newman's early release. [R.II. 74]. Respondent informed Mr. Newman that, should Mr. Newman be successful in obtaining letters from law enforcement outlining his cooperation, such letters would constitute a basis for seeking a modification of the sentences. [R.II. 74].

During Mr. Newman's incarceration, one Kathleen Mast visited the Respondent at his office to inquire of Respondent as to Mr.

Newman's cooperation with law enforcement. [R.II. 75]. Respondent informed Miss Mast that he had no such knowledge. [R.II. 76]. Miss Mast testified on direct examination that she initially learned of Mr. Newman's cooperation with law enforcement from Respondent and that she had not heard of his cooperation from any other source. [R.II. 51,54]. However, her later testimony revealed that Miss Mast heard of Mr. Newman's cooperation with law enforcement from friends of hers [R.II. 56] and, in fact, she admitted previously signing a sworn affidavit saying she had heard of Mr. Newman's cooperation prior to ever going to Respondent's [Def. Exh. 4]. Moreover, Miss Mast recanted her testimony on direct and said she could not be sure where she heard of the referenced cooperation first, but if the affidavit reflected she learned of the cooperation through her friends, she reasoned the affidavit must be correct as it was much closer in time to the events in question. [R.II. 58].

Neither Respondent nor Mr. Newman were able to obtain the letters from law enforcement Respondent deemed necessary to file a meritorious Motion for Modification. [R.II. 74,79,92].

Although Respondent felt he had no basis for a successful claim for post-conviction relief, he agreed to argue Mr. Newman's pro se motion which was thereafter denied. [R.II. 75]. Moreover, Respondent represented Mr. Newman at his parole hearing in Tallahassee. [R.I. 200].

Finally, in December, 1979, Mr. Newman dismissed Respondent as his attorney. [R.I. 200].

THE REFEREE'S FINDING OF GUILT AS TO COUNT I IS NOT SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(6), 6-101(A)(3), and 7-101(A)(2) of the Code of Professional Responsibility (hereafter Code) in Count I of the instant cause. [Referee Report at 3]. In order to sustain the Referee's findings and recommendations, this court must find that clear and convincing evidence existed to support the Referee. The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770 (Fla.1968).

The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla.1978). However, the Referee's findings should be overturned if clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Wagner, supra.

The Referee's findings were predicated upon the testimony of a single prosecution witness, Roland James Harper. Mr. Harper was serving a fifty-year sentence for his conviction on the charge of First Degree Murder when he retained Respondent to represent him in a motion for post-conviction relief.

Respondent took approximately eighteen months to file the motion and, as a result thereof, the Referee recommended he be found guilty of, <u>inter alia</u>, neglect of a legal matter, pursuant to Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A)(3). The Referee made his recommendation without any expert testimony as to how long such a motion should properly take to prepare. Furthermore, substitute counsel was retained on August 16, 1980, and prepared his motion with

Respondent's assistance and utilizing Respondent's motion and work product. [R.I. 246, R.II. 35]. Respondent's work product included eleven (11) conferences with three psychiatrists and one psychologist and the report of Respondent's investigator. ([R.II. 11-15]. Despite the substantial assistance Respondent accorded substitute counsel, it nevertheless took eight (8) months for counsel to have the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief heard. [R.II.35,36].

We respectfully submit that, in the absence of expert testimony as to a reasonable time to file such a complex motion, and with the knowledge that it took substitute counsel eight(8) months to complete the job utilizing Respondent's motion and work product, there was a lack of clear and convincing evidence that Respondent neglected this matter.

The Referee also recommended that Respondent be found guilty of Disciplinary Rule 7-101(A)(2) which states "a lawyer shall not intentionally fail to carry out a contract of employment entered into with a client for professional services . . " [Referee Report at 3]. However, the record is absolutely devoid of evidence of such a violation.

First, Mr. Harper's testimony was essentially inconclusive as to such a violation as his major complaint was that Respondent had not filed within the time frames Mr. Harper claimed were set by Respondent. [R.I. 234,236]. Respondent's failure to file within a

time satisfactory to his client may not be pleasing to his client, but it is not evidence of Respondent failing to carry out his contract of employment.

In fact, there was ample evidence introduced to the contrary. Respondent testified that he worked extensively on Mr. Harper's motion and introduced the motion into evidence as proof that he carried out his contract. Although Mr. Harper claims to have dismissed Respondent approximately two (2) weeks prior to Respondent filing his motion, there was no evidence that Respondent received notice of the dismissal, and Respondent testified that he did not. In any event, Respondent had performed the vast majority of the contractual obligation at the time of his dismissal and did not completely carry out his contract simply because his dismissal prevented him from so doing. It is suggested that the conduct of Respondent was not an "intentional" failure to carry out his contract as proscribed by Disciplinary Rule 7-101(A)(2), but simply a failure to satisfy his client.

Finally, the Referee recommended Respondent be found guilty of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) [Referee Report at 3] which states "a lawyer shall not engage in any other conduct which adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law". It is respectfully submitted that Respondent's conduct in Count I was not violative of either of the previously referenced rules and is, likewise, not violative of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6). This rule has been

traditionally cited as a catch-all by The Florida Bar and is parasitic in that it cannot exist without a finding of some other specific violation of the Code. Obviously, any lawyer who has violated a specific Disciplinary Rule has arguably engaged in conduct which reflects adversely on his fitness to practice law. However, this rule standing alone does not put attorneys on notice as to what conduct is improper and therefore is impermissibly vague. Accordingly, as there was insufficient evidence to sustain the Referee's findings as to Disciplinary Rules 6-101(A)(3) and 7-101(A)(2), his recommendation as to Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) must also be rejected.

Parenthetically, it is important to note that Mr. Harper suffered no prejudice as a result of Respondent's alleged misconduct. Respondent painstakingly prepared the motion and thereafter assisted substitute counsel in preparing his motion. The motion was thereafter heard and denied. Candidly, had Respondent prepared this motion less diligently and more expeditiously, it is likely that Mr. Harper's complaint would have been that Respondent did not adequately prepare his motion.

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDING IN COUNT II THAT RESPONDENT DISCLOSED A CONFIDENCE OR SECRET OF JOHN NEWMAN IN VIOLATION OF DISCIPLINARY RULE 4-101(B)(1).

In Count II, the Referee found that Respondent violated
Disciplinary Rule 4-101(B)(1) of the Code of Professional Responsibility in that Respondent "without the consent of his client, divulged the fact that Mr. Newman had supplied confidential information to the Tampa Police Department to Kathleen K. Mast, a former girlfriend of Mr. Newman's brother". [Referee Report at 2]. The Referee based his finding of guilt solely on the uncorroborated testimony of Kathleen K. Mast. A close analysis of the record shows that Miss Mast's testimony is contradictory, inconclusive, and simply not worthy of belief.

Miss Mast, who had lived with Leroy Newman (brother of Complainant) since 1974, testified on direct examination that she went to Respondent's office with the Newmans' father to discuss the cases of John and Leroy Newman. [R.II. 51]. At that time, Miss Mast claimed that she was informed by Respondent that John had provided information to the State, ostensibly concerning criminal activity. [R.II. 51].

However, Miss Mast confused, diluted, and impeached her own testimony during her cross examination, wherein she admitted to having sexual relations with John Newman, who was married, while being romantically involved with Leroy Newman. [R.II. 53,54]. Furthermore, although Miss Mast initially indicated she had no

idea of John Newman's cooperation and was shocked to hear of it from Respondent, she later admitted to having previously signed an affidavit wherein she stated that she had heard that John Newman was working with the police prior to going to Respondent's office. [R.II. 54,56]. Moreover, in the referenced affidavit, Miss Mast claimed to have gone to Dover, Florida, to inform Mr. and Mrs. Newman of the information revealed by Respondent, contrary to her claim on direct examination that Mr. Newman was present in Respondent's office during the alleged disclosure. She further admitted she remembered who had initially informed her of the cooperation after being "reminded" of their names by Respondent's counsel. [R.II. 58].

Miss Mast's lack of candor during direct examination and the contradictions found in her sworn affidavit raise serious questions as to her credibility. Furthermore, Respondent pointedly denied divulging the information to Miss Mast and at no time did he revise and recant his recollection of the scene in his office, as did Miss Mast. Certainly, the totality of the evidence presented in this count is something woefully short of "clear and convincing evidence" of Respondent divulging a secret or confidence of a client. If anything, there is clear and convincing evidence of Miss Mast's aversion for telling the truth.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u>, that Respondent did divulge to Miss Mast that John Newman had cooperated with authorities, his conduct is not of the ilk which the rule in question seeks to prohibit.

First, Miss Mast was a live-in girlfriend of Leroy Newman who testified that she sat in on attorney-client conversations between John and Leroy Newman and Respondent at the correctional facility. [R.II. 61,53]. Furthermore, she claims to have gone to Respondent's office with the Newmans' father, at the request of both John and Leroy Newman. [R.II. 51]. It appears obvious from the record that Miss Mast was treated as family by the Newmans and thus it is understandable that, if Respondent divulged such information to Katherine Mast, Respondent had ample reason to believe that such information was safe with Miss Mast due to the position of trust she obviously enjoyed with the Newmans. Accordingly, even if this court finds Miss Mast's testimony to be "clear and convincing", which we respectfully submit is unthinkable, it appears any disclosure was understandable, unwitting, and without prejudicial effect to Mr. Newman.

In conclusion, whether Miss Mast's testimony is to be believed or not, there is lack of clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent has committed a breach of Disciplinary Rule 4-101(B)(1).

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF GUILT AS TO COUNT III SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED BASED UPON THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

The Referee's recommendation of guilt should not be accepted as to Count III because the findings of fact are not supported by clear and convincing evidence and the facts do not support the conclusion of guilt for violations of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4), 6-101(A)(3), or 7-101(A)(2). The Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility, D.R. 1-102(A)(4), D.R. 6-101(A)(3), D.R. 7-101(A)(2).

The total evidence presented at trial against Respondent in Count III was the testimony of the complainant. The witness against Respondent is a convicted felon who was unable to have his sentence reduced or modified. This clearly indicates a motive for distorting the truthfulness of his relationship with Respondent.

Additionally, the record indicates a substantial question as to whether or not Respondent appeared for his client at a hearing for a motion for modification filed by the client [RI. 217].

For the evidence to clearly and convincingly prove a factual matter, it must substantially outweigh a respondent's presumption of innocence. In fact, by definition, clear and convincing evidence is greater than a mere preponderance of the evidence.

Accordingly, the testimony of a singular witness, acknowledged as a convicted felon, under circumstances where his own interests may be served by an allegation of incompetent representation, weighed against a specific denial and explanation by a member of The

Florida Bar, cannot withstand this evidentiary test. Therefore, without a sufficient evidentiary basis, the Referee's findings of fact do not support his recommendation of guilt.

Furthermore, the findings of fact do not support the Referee's conclusions of guilt because they fail to establish the essential elements of each Disciplinary Rule. Specifically, Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A)(3) prohibits an attorney from neglecting a legal matter entrusted to him. Therefore, for an attorney to be guilty of violating this rule, it must be proven that a legal matter was entrusted to him and that he neglected the matter.

The Referee found as fact that Respondent "assured" the client that a Motion for Reduction of Sentence would be filed. [Referee Report at 2]. He further found that the client filed a pro se motion to reduce the sentence and vacate the judgment. [Referee Report at 2]. Also, the Referee determined that the Respondent took no "substantial" action on the client's behalf and was subsequently dismissed by the client. [Referee Report at 3].

Finally, the Referee found as fact that Respondent never filed a post-conviction motion. [Referee Report at 3].

These facts fail to establish that any specific legal matter was entrusted to Respondent. Instead, the facts show that Respondent and his client merely discussed the filing of appropriate motions but reached no specific agreement. These facts do not establish the "entrustment" which the rule requires.

Furthermore, the testimony does not support the Referee's finding that Respondent neglected the legal matter. The evidence presented indicated that Respondent failed to act as expeditiously as his client would have liked.

However, neglect, if it is to be a test for punishment, should prohibit more than untimely action or mere inaction. Otherwise, any attorney who fails to act as quickly as his client wishes or as promptly as is humanly possible may be violating the Code. Furthermore, without a definition or standard as to what length of inaction constitutes a violation of the Code, no attorney is reasonably advised as to what lapse of time subjects him to disciplinary proceedings.

Also, to be a legal and meaningful disciplinary standard, "neglect" should prohibit a substantial and grave error which is a violation of our code of ethics. This prohibition should not be used as a substitute for a civil action. The Florida Bar v. Neale, 384 So.2d 1264 (Fla.1980).

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