IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

WILLIAM T. FUSSELL,

Respondent.

		CASE	NO.	60,	642	2	
			F				D.
				DEC	5	1984	
	/		OLER	ik, su	PRE	ME will	URRIT
	_'		B y	Uhist L	Dupui	y Greik k	
COMPLAINANT'S	ANSWER	BRIEF	-				V

Steve Rushing Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821

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

ARGUMENT

After hearing the testimony, observing the demeanor of the witnesses, and reviewing the documentary evidence submitted, the duly appointed Referee found there was clear and convincing evidence of Respondent's violation of The Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility, Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) (A lawyer shall not engage in any other conduct which adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law); DR 6-101(A)(3) (Neglect of a legal matter entrusted to him); and DR 7-101(A)(2) (Failure to carry out a contract of employment entered into with a client) based on the following findings of facts:

(1) That on or about February 27, 1979, Respondent was retained by Mr. Ronald J. Harper for \$5,000.00 to file a Motion for Post Conviction Relief, which Respondent failed to file until September 3, 1980.

(2) At a 13A Grievance Committee hearing on January 15, 1980, which was held pursuant to a letter Mr. Harper sent to The Florida Bar in June 1979, complaining of the lack of action by Respondent, Respondent told the committee that he intended to fulfill his obligation to represent Mr. Harper in a timely and competent manner.

(3) Even after his appearance before the committee, Respondent failed to file any Motion for Post Conviction Relief, and on August 16, 1980, Mr. Harper wrote Respondent dismissing him as his attorney in the Post Conviction proceeding.

(4) Only after having been dismissed as Mr. Harper's attorney on September 3, 1980, did Respondent file the Motion for Post Conviction Relief for Mr. Harper.

This Honorable Court has repeatedly held that the "...fact finding responsibility in disciplinary proceedings is imposed on the Referee. His findings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence." <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Hirsch</u>, 359 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1978). <u>See also The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Wagner</u>, 212 So.2d 777 (Fla. 1968) and <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978).

There is ample evidence to sustain the Referee's finding as to Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(6), DR 6-101(A)(3), and DR 7-101(A)(2). In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hollingsworth</u>, 376 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1979) the Court held that failure to reply to The Florida Bar's request for admissions constituted an admission of the matter requested to be admitted. Since The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions filed in this matter tracked every factual allegation of the complaint and since the Referee ruled that Respondent's response to the Request for Admissions was untimely and the Referee granted The Florida Bar's Motion for Order Deeming Matters Admitted, the Referee's factual findings on the complaint are legally sufficient by virtue of both the testimony and evidence at trial and the Order Deeming Matters Admitted.

(1) DISCIPLINARY RULE 1-102(A)(6) (ENGAGE IN ANY OTHER CONDUCT THAT ADVERSELY REFLECTS ON HIS FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW).

Respondent's brief incorrectly states that Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(6) "...is parasitic in that it cannot exist without a finding of some other specific violation of the Code." [Respondent's Initial Brief at 10] The term "other conduct" as used in DR 1-102(A)(6) does not refer to a requirement of a finding of <u>another</u> specific violation of the Code, but rather directly refers to "any other conduct" not covered in DR 1-102(A)(1) - (5) that "adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law."

The record is replete with clear and convincing examples of conduct by Respondent that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law, i.e., his promise to the grievance committee on January 15, 1980 that he intended to fulfill his obligation to represent Mr. Harper in a timely and competent manner after he had been retained for almost a year without filing the Motion for Post Conviction Relief which he did not file until over six (6) months later, and then only after Mr. Harper had already dismissed him; the fact that Respondent promised the grievance committee on January 15, 1980, that he would send a statement to Mr. Harper detailing what he had done on his behalf which letter Respondent could not document or recall ever having written [R.II. 22]; and that after Mr. Harper filed a <u>pro se</u> Motion early in 1980 after no action

from Respondent in nearly a year, Respondent talked Mr. Harper into moving for a continuance or withdrawing the <u>pro se</u> Motion in exchange for his promise to expedite the filing of the Motion for Reduction of Sentence (which motion was not filed until eight (8) months later) [R.I. 242, 243; R.II. 25].

(2) DISCIPLINARY RULE 6-101(A)(3) (NEGLECT OF A LEGAL MATTER ENTRUSTED TO HIM).

Respondent's attempt to side step the obvious neglect in the eighteen (18) months it took Respondent to file the Motion for Reduction of Sentence under all the circumstances is interesting. Respondent attempts to argue that the fact that it took Respondent eighteen (18) months to file the Motion is excused because it took eight (8) months for the (substitute) counsel to "have the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief heard (emphasis added)". This is a fallacious "strawman" argument, since it took Respondent eighteen (18) months to file the motion, and it took substitute counsel less than eight (8) months to do all of the following: file the motion to assume representation; motion the Court to withdraw Respondent's original Motion for Post-Conviction Relief; file the new motion for Post Conviction Relief; have the motion set for evidentiary hearing where testimony was taken; motion the Court for a re-hearing after the Court

originally denied the motion in its entirety; and hold a re-hearing wherein the Court granted Post-Conviction Relief in part by removing a retention of jurisdiction provision from the sentence. [R.II. 35, 36, Court File File No. 78-3022].

Respondent's attempt to create a "smokescreen" defense for the delay is obviously an attempt to conveniently overlook the following facts and circumstances which clearly make Respondent's eighteen (18) months delay in filing the motion inexcusable neglect:

a. Respondent received \$3,000.00 from Respondent on February 27, 1979 which was sixty percent (60%) of the requested \$5,000.00 fee to represent Mr. Harper. Mr. Harper was sentenced on September 29, 1978 and had written Respondent several letters from December 1978 through January 1979 requesting to retain Respondent's services for Post Conviction Relief [R.I. 232, 233].

b. Respondent was put on Notice of Mr. Harper's concern about the lack of action as early as June 1979 when Mr. Harper filed a complaint with The Florida Bar after Respondent's failure to keep appointments, and failure to take discernable action after having allegedly promised in March 1979 to have the case completed within ninety (90) days. [R.I. 234, 235].

c. In July 1979, at Respondent's request, Mr. Harper sent a thirty-five (35) page letter detailing his knowledge of the facts of his case and at Respondent's request a second check for \$1,500.00 towards Respondent's fee. Over one year after having received the thirty-five (35) page detailed statement and \$4,500.00, Respondent still had not filed the Motion [R.II. 236-238].

d. The Hillsborough County Criminal Court File in Case No. 78-3022, which was introduced into evidence at the hearing, indicated that Respondent sent letters inquiring about any motions filed by Respondent filed on August 14, 1979, and September 5, 1979. The August 10, 1979 letter, filed August 14, 1979, bore a note from the Clerk of the Court that "Attorney Fussell saw the letter in the Clerk's office and notified us that he will ask for the letter for the Defendant this August 28th of 1979". [R.II. 26]. At the hearing, Respondent admitted that he knew Mr. Harper was inquiring about his filing a motion, and that he advised the Clerk's office that he knew that Mr. Harper was concerned and that he was working on it [R.II.26].

e. The court file in Case No. 78-3022 contains a letter from Mr. Harper to the Honorable C.J. Cheatwood, Circuit Judge, dated January 5, 1980, and filed January 8, 1980, complaining about Respondent's inaction, which bears a notation reflecting that a copy of the letter was sent to Respondent.

f. Between June 1979 and January 1980, Respondent knew Mr. Harper's complaint was pending with The Florida Bar and on January 15, 1980, Respondent appeared before a Hillsborough County Grievance Committee 13A and promised to fulfill his obligation to represent Mr. Harper in a timely and competent manner and to send Mr. Harper a detailed statement of his actions on his behalf. [R.I. 239, 240, R.II. 22].

g. In February 1980, after Mr. Harper had filed a <u>pro se</u> motion that was set for hearing, Respondent talked Mr. Harper into moving for a continuance or withdrawing the <u>pro se</u> motion in exchange for his promise to file the motion. [R.I. 242, 243, R.II. 25].

h. Mr. Harper sent a letter dated August 16, 1980 to the Clerk of the Court, Respondent and The Florida Bar giving notice of his dismissal of Respondent and requesting an accounting of the over \$5,000.00 paid to Respondent for fees and costs. Although a copy of the

letter to the Clerk is in the court file, Respondent claims he somehow never received it [R.I. 246, 247, R.II. 27]. It is notable that within two weeks of Mr. Harper's letter dismissing Respondent, and asking for an accounting of the funds, Respondent wrote to Mr. Harper that he had filed the Motion for Post Conviction Relief on August 29, 1980; although it was not actually filed until September 3, 1984 [R.II. 27].

(3) DISCIPLINARY RULE 7-101(A)(2) (A LAWYER SHALL NOT INTENTIONALLY FAIL TO CARRY OUT A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT).

After reviewing the above efforts by Mr. Harper, the Clerk of the Court, and The Florida Bar to encourage, prod and persuade Respondent to carry out his contract of employment with Mr. Harper to file the necessary Post Conviction Motion, the totality of Respondent's lack of action rises above mere neglect and even gross neglect, to a level of intentional behavior. Although denied by Respondent, other independent evidence in the Court file supports Mr. Harper's sworn testimony relating Respondent's string of broken promises, lack of significant action, lack of documentation, failure to communicate with his cleint, and failure to carry out a contract of employment after receiving thousands of dollars from Mr. Harper. The overwhelming evidence clearly indicates a course of intentional, rather than just neglectful conduct by Respondent. Additionally, the Referee, as trier of fact, was able to observe the tone and attitude

of Respondent's demeanor and Respondent's lack of candor, remorse or even acknowledgment of any accountability. The trier of fact correctly concluded that Respondent's actions, as well as his inaction, in the instant matter clearly and convincingly demonstrated Respondent's intentional failure to carry out his contract of employment with Mr. Harper.

In Respondent's closing paragraph on Count I, it is argued that "Mr. Harper suffered no prejudice as a result of Respondent's alleged misconduct." [Respondent's Initial Brief at 10]. Initially, it is submitted that prejudice or lack of prejudice to a client is not a necessary element of any of the Disciplinary Rules cited by the Referee in his findings in Count I. Secondly, it is submitted that Mr. Harper was indeed prejudiced by both Respondent's actions and inaction.

The fact that Mr. Harper paid \$4,500.00 in attorney fees for a motion that was not filed for over eighteen (18) months while Mr. Harper was incarcerated and in desperation writing letters to Respondent, the Clerk of the Court, Judges, and The Florida Bar, clearly demonstrates financial and emotional prejudice. The fact that Mr. Harper paid Respondent \$4,500.00 in attorney fees for a motion that was filed more than two (2) weeks after Mr. Harper had sent a letter dismissing Respondent as his attorney and requested an accounting of the fees paid (which Respondent never provided), obviously unfavorably impacted upon Mr. Harper.

SECOND POINT INVOLVED

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE DOES SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S FINDING IN COUNT II THAT RESPONDENT DISCLOSED A CONFI-DENCE OR SECRET OF JOHN NEWMAN IN VIOLATION OF DISCI-PLINARY RULE 4-101(B)(1).

ARGUMENT

After hearing the testimony and observing the demeanor of the witnesses the Referee found there was clear and convincing evidence of Respondent's violation of The Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility, Disciplinary Rule 4-101 (B) (1) based upon the following findings of facts:

(1) On or about December 1977, Respondent agreed to represent Johnny C. Newman in criminal case No. 78-3217 in the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County.

(2) During the course of this representation, Respondent learned that Mr. Newman had cooperated with the Tampa Police Department by supplying information to them.

(3) Respondent, without the consent of his client, divulged the fact that Mr. Newman had supplied confidential information to Tampa Police Department to Kathleen K. Mast, a former girlfriend of Mr. Newman's brother.

At the final hearing in this matter, Kathleen K.

Mast testified as follows:

Q. (By Mr. Rushing) When you were at this meeting with Mr. Fussell with his father present, you think in the afternoon, what conversation, best you can recall, did you have with Mr. Fussell and what did he say to you?

- A. Okay. He used the words "it's no family secret" that Johnny has given information to the State, which has now proven about ninety percent (90%) effective, and I can't remember word for word. I do know that that was what he had said, and I knew I was shocked when I heard it.
- Q. Had you ever been told that from Mr. Newman prior to that?
- A. No.
- Q. His brother?
- A. No, his brother doesn't even know. (R.II. 51-52]

* * * *

THE WITNESS: The only reason I repeated what Fussell said was because I wanted to know why, if it was no family secret, why no one told me. [R.II. 59].

Respondent argues that "the Referee based his findings of guilt solely on the uncorroborated testimony of Kathleen K. Mast." Although the trier of fact certainly has the capacity to make findings of fact based upon the believed, yet uncorroborated testimony of a witness, Kathleen K. Mast's testimony was not uncorroborated as evidenced by the following testimony of John Newman:

- Q. (By Mr. Rushing) Now, where were you located during the time that you were helping the Police in these matters?
- A. (By Mr. Newman) I was at Polk Correctional Institution, and they brought me back on two occasions to Hillsborough County.
- Q. Was there any apprehension in your mind that if it got out to the general population at Polk, that it might endanger you?

- A. Most definitely.
- Q. Did you tell anybody up there what was going on?
- A. Absolutely not. In fact, there were only three people other than the Police Department themselves, me and my wife and Mr. Fussell, that knew about it.
- Q. Did you want anybody else to know about it?
- A. No. If I did, I would have broadcast it.
- Q. Did it come to your attention that someone else did learn about it?
- A. Yes, it did.
- Q. Who was that?
- A. Katherine Mast.
- Q. Did you ever give anybody permission to tell her that you cooperated with the police in giving them information?
- A. No, I didn't. [R.I. 221, 222].

* * * * *

- Q. Did Mr. Fussell have your permission or consent to relate those facts to Kay Mast?
- A. No.
- Q. Kathleen K. Mast?
- A. No. [R.I. 222]

Mr. Newman's genuine fears and obvious reasons form not wanting anyone other than his wife and his attorney to know that he was working as an informant with the Tampa Police Department while incarcerated in the State Prison are pointedly underlined by the following testimony of Mr. Newman:

- Q. (Bÿ Mr. Moore) Okay. Mr. Newman, you indicated that Mr. Fussell had disclosed some information which was confidential.
- A. Yes, I did.
- Q. Exactly what information did he disclose?
- A. The information he disclosed was the fact that he was working as a confidential informant with the Tampa P.D. to my brother's girlfriend who had no business whatsoever knowing.
- Q. Now, was there anything more specific than that?
- A. It doesn't have to be more specific. [R.I. 225].

* * * *

- A. The fact that-- again I will make the statement-- I was working as an informant for the Tampa Police Department.
- Q. Is that all?
- A. That's enough. It could have got me killed.
- Q. Is that all? [R.I. 226]

Mr. Newman's continuing desire to keep any information of his cooperation with the police confidential, even after he learned Respondent had divulged his secret to Kathleen Mast, is demonstrated by Mr. Newman's reluctance to disclose

the details of the communication in his initial letter to The Florida Bar [R.I. 226] and his refusal to confirm the veracity of Respondent's disclosure when confronted by Kathleen Mast:

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